

The SBA Pre-Disaster Loan Pilot Program: Considerations for Congress and Policy Options

Bruce R. Lindsay

Analyst in American National Government

Updated December 17, 2019

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R46118



The SBA Pre-Disaster Loan Pilot Program: Considerations for Congress and Policy Options

For nearly a century, Congress has contemplated how to help businesses repair and rebuild after a disaster. Congress has also expressed interest in helping businesses use mitigation measures to protect their investments from future incidents. Mitigation activities entail identifying risks and hazards and taking measures to either substantially reduce or eliminate the impact of an incident. As described in this report, mitigation measures primarily take place during the recovery phase of a disaster. Currently, only damaged businesses in declared disaster areas are eligible for disaster

loans. Businesses seeking mitigation assistance before a disaster strikes, however, must look to other sources for the assistance.

Congress experimented with business pre-disaster mitigation (PDM) through a pilot program operated by the Small Business Administration (SBA) from FY2000 to FY2006. Though Congress authorized appropriations of \$15 million each fiscal year to carry out the SBA PDM pilot program, four businesses obtained pre-disaster mitigation loans, totaling just over \$100,000.

Although the federal government has traditionally favored a post-disaster approach to mitigation, there are indications suggesting congressional interest in pre-disaster mitigation has increased in recent years, partly as a result of recent and recurring large-scale disasters, including hurricanes Katrina, Harvey, Irma, Maria, and Michael. This is evidenced by enactment of the Disaster Recovery Reform Act of 2018 (DRRA, Division D of P.L. 115-254), which made substantial reforms to pre-disaster mitigation. The renewed focus on pre-disaster mitigation has also led to discussions about reauthorizing the SBA PDM pilot program.

This report describes the underlying rationale for post-disaster and pre-disaster mitigation and provides an overview of the SBA PDM loan pilot program, including its past performance and potential reasons why so few businesses participated in the pilot program. These potential reasons include (1) the fact that the pilot program was tied to FEMA programs, which delayed the program's implementation; (2) limitations on business eligibility for SBA PDM loans; and (3) the fact that businesses may not have been aware that the SBA was offering pre-disaster mitigation loans. This report also provides an overview of various policy options should Congress decide to reauthorize the SBA PDM pilot program, including considerations that may help increase business participation. These policy options include decoupling the SBA PDM disaster loan pilot program from FEMA programs and examining the most effective forms of outreach and advertising. Congress could also consider restructuring the current SBA Disaster Loan Program to allow businesses to apply a greater percentage of their disaster loan towards mitigation, and may consider investigating ways to help businesses develop continuity and disaster response plans. Congress could also consider providing PDM loans to homeowners so they can protect their homes before a disaster strikes.

SUMMARY

R46118

December 17, 2019

Bruce R. Lindsay Analyst in American National Government -redacted-@crs.loc.gov

For a copy of the full report, please call 7-.... or visit www.crs.gov.

Contents

Rationale for Post-Disaster vs. Pre-Disaster Mitigation	3
Post-Disaster Mitigation	3
Pre-Disaster Mitigation	3
SBA Pre-Disaster Mitigation Loan Pilot Program	4
SBA PDM Pilot Program Performance	5
Challenges to the Success of the SBA PDM Pilot Program	
Limited Time Frame	5
Limited Number of Eligible Applicants	6
Outreach and Notifications	8
Considerations for Congress and Policy Options	8
Reauthorizing the SBA PDM Pilot Program	8
Restructuring Existing Business Physical Disaster Loans	9
Assistance with Continuity and Disaster Response Plans	9
Pre-Disaster Mitigation Loans for Homeowners	10
Concluding Observations	10

Figures

Figure 1. FEMA Pre-Disaster Mitigation Funding and Post-Disaster Mitigation Funding	. 2
Figure 2. Project Impact Communities	. 7

Appendixes

Appendix, Project	ct Impact and SBA P	DM Pilot Loan Program	n Information	

Contacts

Author Contact Information 15	5
-------------------------------	---

Since the U.S. Small Business Administration's (SBA's) creation in 1953, the SBA Disaster Loan Program has provided low-interest disaster loans to businesses to help them repair, rebuild, and recover from federally declared disasters.¹ SBA business disaster loans fall into two categories: (1) Economic Injury Disaster Loans (EIDL), and (2) business physical disaster loans.

EIDLs provide up to \$2 million for working capital to help small businesses meet financial obligations and operating expenses that could have been met had the disaster not occurred. Loan amounts for EIDLs are based on actual economic injury and financial needs, regardless of whether the business suffered any property damage.

Business physical disaster loans provide up to \$2 million to businesses of all sizes to repair or replace damaged physical property, including machinery, equipment, fixtures, inventory, and leasehold improvements that are not covered by insurance. In addition to repairing and replacing damaged physical property, a portion of the loans can also be applied toward mitigation measures, including grading or contouring land, installing sewer backflow valves, relocating or elevating utilities or mechanical equipment, building retaining walls, and building safe rooms or similar structures designed to protect occupants from natural disasters. The limits on post-disaster mitigation loans are the lesser of either the measure or 20% of the verified loss.

An important aspect of the SBA Disaster Loan Program is that a business must already be damaged *and* be located in a federally declared disaster area to apply a portion of its disaster loan toward mitigation measures. As will be discussed in this report, Congress experimented with business pre-disaster mitigation (PDM) through a pilot program operated by the SBA from FY2000 to FY2006.

Providing mitigation assistance to businesses after a disaster is arguably consistent with the mitigation policies of other federal programs. For example, the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) provides both pre-disaster and post-disaster mitigation grants to states and localities, but post-disaster mitigation grants are substantially larger than pre-disaster grants. For example, from FY2014 to FY2018, \$3.35 billion was spent on post-disaster mitigation grants through FEMA's Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) and Fire Management Assistance Grants (FMAGs). In contrast, during the same period, \$430 million was spent on FEMA's Pre-Disaster Mitigation (PDM) program (see **Figure 1**).²

¹ For more information on the Small Business Administration (SBA) Disaster Loan Program, see CRS Report R41309, *The SBA Disaster Loan Program: Overview and Possible Issues for Congress*, by Bruce R. Lindsay; and CRS Report R44412, *SBA Disaster Loan Program: Frequently Asked Questions*, by Bruce R. Lindsay.

² 42 U.S.C. §§5721 et seq. For more information on the two programs, see FEMA, "Hazard Mitigation Grant Program," last updated July 9, 2019, https://www.fema.gov/hazard-mitigation-grant-program; and FEMA, "Pre-Disaster Mitigation Grant Program," last updated September 10, 2019, https://www.fema.gov/pre-disaster-mitigation-grant-program, respectively. See also CRS Insight IN11187, *Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Hazard Mitigation Assistance*, by Diane P. Horn.



Figure 1. FEMA Pre-Disaster Mitigation Funding and Post-Disaster Mitigation Funding

Source: Data obtained from FEMA, Data Feeds, https://www.fema.gov/data-feeds.

Notes: PDM denotes FEMA's Pre-Disaster Mitigation Program. HMGP denotes FEMA's Hazard Mitigation Grant Program. FMA denotes fire management assistance provided by FEMA's Fire Management Assistance Grants.

Funding for pre-disaster mitigation, however, may increase with the enactment of the Disaster Recovery Reform Act of 2018 (DRRA, Division D of P.L. 115-254).³ Section 1234 of DRRA authorized the National Public Infrastructure Pre-Disaster Mitigation Fund (NPIPDM), which allows the President to set aside 6% from the Disaster Relief Fund (DRF) with respect to each declared major disaster under the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act (Stafford Act, P.L. 93-288, as amended; 42 U.S.C. §§5121 et seq.).⁴ This 6% "set aside" is the aggregate amount funded by the following sections of the Stafford Act:

- 403 (essential assistance);
- 406 (repair, restoration, and replacement of damaged facilities);
- 407 (debris removal);
- 408 (federal assistance to individuals and households);
- 410 (unemployment assistance);
- 416 (crisis counseling assistance and training); and
- 428 (public assistance program alternative procedures).

Although post-disaster and pre-disaster mitigation are not mutually exclusive, there are reasons why one may be favored over the other. The following section provides the underlying rationale for the two approaches to mitigation.

³ For more information on the pre-disaster mitigation funding available following the enactment of the Disaster Recovery Reform Act of 2018 (DRRA), see CRS Report R45819, *The Disaster Recovery Reform Act of 2018 (DRRA):* A Summary of Selected Statutory Provisions, coordinated by Elizabeth M. Webster and Bruce R. Lindsay.

⁴ For more information on the Disaster Relief Fund, see CRS Report R45484, *The Disaster Relief Fund: Overview and Issues*, by William L. Painter.

Rationale for Post-Disaster vs. Pre-Disaster Mitigation

Over the years, scholars, researchers, and policymakers have debated whether mitigation is more effective before or after an incident. The following sections list the rationales for each approach.

Post-Disaster Mitigation

The underlying rationales for providing post-disaster mitigation include

- incidents such as floods and hurricanes are known to recur in the same areas. Post-disaster mitigation targets those areas to protect them from future disasters;
- post-disaster mitigation helps ensure that the opportunity to take mitigation measures to reduce the loss of life and property from disasters is not lost during the reconstruction process following a disaster;
- the recovery phase of an incident may be the most ideal time to introduce new structural changes because damaged structures are already in the process of being replaced and rebuilt;
- post-disaster mitigation can be used to support a "build back better" approach to avoid or reduce future disaster damages;
- providing mitigation funding after an incident is programmatically easier to administer because the grants are concomitant with a federally declared incident. In contrast, pre-disaster projects have generally been awarded on a competitive basis—each application must be scrutinized and prioritized over other applications; and
- policymakers may find it difficult to justify or defend expenditures for incidents that may not occur for long periods of time (or never occur). This may be particularly true during periods of heightened concern over the federal budget.

Pre-Disaster Mitigation

Others may argue that mitigation is more effective when implemented before rather than after an incident. The rationales for pre-disaster mitigation include

- post-disaster mitigation may fail to address vulnerable areas that have not had a major disaster declaration; and
- studies indicate that mitigation can significantly reduce recovery costs. For example, a study published by the National Institute of Building Sciences found that for every \$1 that FEMA spent on mitigation grants, there is a \$6 dollar return of avoided losses in the future.⁵ Those savings, however, cannot be calculated until there are subsequent disasters.

⁵ National Institute of Building Sciences, *Natural Hazard Mitigation Saves: 2017 Interim Report: An Independent Study*, Washington, DC, December 2017, p. 1, at https://www.nibs.org/page/ms2_dwnload.

SBA Pre-Disaster Mitigation Loan Pilot Program

Based on findings similar to the one issued by the National Institute of Building Sciences,⁶ Congress in 1999 passed P.L. 106-24 which amended the Small Business Act⁷ to include a Pre-Disaster Mitigation (PDM) pilot program. The program authorized SBA to make low-interest (4% or less) fixed-rate loans of no more than \$50,000 per year to small businesses to implement mitigation measures designed to protect small businesses from future disaster-related damage. Section 1(a) of P.L. 106-24 authorized the SBA

during fiscal years 2000 through 2004, to establish a predisaster mitigation program to make such loans (either directly or in cooperation with banks or other lending institutions through agreements to participate on an immediate or deferred (guaranteed) basis), as the Administrator may determine to be necessary or appropriate, to enable small businesses to use mitigation techniques in support of a formal mitigation program established by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, except that no loan or guarantee may be extended to a small business under this subparagraph unless the Administration finds that the small business is otherwise unable to obtain credit for the purposes described in this subparagraph.

The SBA PDM pilot program was developed in support of "Project Impact," a new FEMA mitigation program that emphasized disaster prevention rather than solely relying on response and recovery activities.⁸ Similarly, SBA PDM loans were intended to lessen or prevent future damages to businesses. According to the House report on H.R. 818 (the companion bill to S. 388, which became P.L. 106-24)

The cost of disaster assistance has risen over the past several years due to increases in construction and other costs. By implementing a program to help small businesses use techniques that would lessen damage in the event of natural disasters the possibility exists to save millions of dollars in potential losses.⁹

The report also stated that

the Administrator of the Small Business Administration, testified concerning the SBA's request for \$934 million dollars in disaster loans for anticipated damage in the coming year. She also discussed FEMA and SBA's current efforts at mitigation and stated that FEMA estimates a \$2 saving for every \$1 spent on mitigation. The Administrator expressed strong support for H.R. 818.¹⁰

Section 1(c) of P.L. 106-24 required the SBA Administrator to submit a report to Congress on the effectiveness of the pilot program. The report required information and analysis on

- the areas served under the pilot program;
- the number and dollar value of loans made under the pilot program;
- the estimated savings to the federal government resulting from the pilot program; and

⁶ H.Rept. 106-33, p. 2.

⁷ P.L. 83-163, as amended; 15 U.S.C. §§631 et seq.

⁸ See the **Appendix** of this report for more information on Project Impact.

⁹ H.Rept. 106-33, p. 2.

¹⁰ Ibid.

• other relevant information as the Administrator determines to be appropriate for evaluating the pilot program.

Congress initially authorized appropriations of \$15 million each fiscal year to carry out the PDM pilot program for FY2000 through FY2004.¹¹ Congress later extended the program until the end of FY2006 and authorized an additional \$15 million for the program in FY2005 and \$15 million in FY2006.¹² Since its expiration at the end of FY2006, many Members have discussed the possibility of reauthorizing the PDM pilot program.

SBA PDM Pilot Program Performance

According to SBA, four loans were approved during the SBA PDM pilot program, with a total gross approval amount of \$101,400 (a small fraction compared to the \$105 million Congress authorized to be appropriated to the program over the seven-year period of its existence). Two of the loans defaulted and the other two loans (amounting to \$52,400) were repaid in full.¹³

As mentioned previously, Section 1(c) of P.L. 106-24 required the SBA Administrator to submit a report to Congress on the effectiveness of the pilot program, including the areas served and dollar amounts provided under the program, estimated savings resulting from the SBA PDM pilot program, and other relevant information. A CRS search of databases could not locate the required report on the effectiveness of the pilot program and the SBA could not verify whether the report was ever submitted.¹⁴

The following sections describe the possible reasons for the lack of participation in the SBA PDM pilot program.

Challenges to the Success of the SBA PDM Pilot Program

The limited number of businesses that participated in the SBA PDM pilot program may be attributable to its alignment with FEMA programs. Aligning the two programs may have (1) limited the time frame to obtain a PDM loan, and (2) limited the number of businesses eligible for PDM loans. Additionally, businesses may not have been aware that pre-disaster loans were being made available through the SBA PDM pilot program.

Limited Time Frame

The SBA PDM pilot loan program was created in conjunction with FEMA's pre-disaster mitigation program, dubbed Project Impact. Because the two programs were aligned, the time frame in which businesses could apply for PDM loans was limited by a series of delays in the implementation of the FEMA program. That may help explain, in part, why so few businesses obtained SBA PDM loans.

According to SBA, the PDM program rules were effective as of October 1, 1999.¹⁵ However, communities could not apply to be accepted as a pre-disaster mitigation eligible community

¹¹ Section 1(b) of P.L. 106-24 authorized appropriations of \$15 million each fiscal year from FY2000 to FY2004.

¹² P.L. 108-447, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2005.

¹³ Based on an email correspondence with the SBA Office of Congressional and Legislative Affairs, March 14, 2018. ¹⁴ Ibid.

¹⁵ Small Business Administration, "Pre-Disaster Mitigation Loans," 64 *Federal Register* 48275-48277, September 3, 1999.

because FEMA had not yet implemented Project Impact.¹⁶ Project Impact's implementation was further delayed "pending appropriations in the FY2002 Departments of Veterans Affairs, Housing and Urban Development and Independent Agencies Appropriations Act."¹⁷ On November 26, 2001, the appropriations act provided \$25 million to FEMA for its pre-disaster mitigation grant program. Upon receiving the appropriation, FEMA decided to reevaluate and revamp Project Impact before its full implementation—further delaying the program. Once Project Impact was implemented, SBA revised rules (some in response to FEMA comments) concerning the SBA PDM pilot program before it was put into effect (see **Appendix** for additional information on both Project Impact and the SBA PDM pilot program).¹⁸

The sequence of events described above shortened the timeframe for applying for PDM loans. A CRS search of the *Federal Register* indicates that PDM loans first became available July 16, 2003.¹⁹

Limited Number of Eligible Applicants

The Project Impact requirement significantly reduced the number of businesses eligible for the SBA PDM pilot program. The SBA PDM pilot program was intended to complement Project Impact by participating in the "whole of community approach" to disaster mitigation; SBA PDM loan eligibility was contingent on whether the business was located in a Project Impact community. The Project Impact requirement may have unintentionally limited the number of businesses eligible for PDM disaster loans. As demonstrated in **Figure 2**, few communities participated in the Project Impact program. There may have been businesses in "non-Project Impact" areas that wanted SBA PDM loans but were ineligible because of the Project Impact requirement.

¹⁶ Small Business Administration, "Pre-Disaster Mitigation Loans," 67 Federal Register 62335, October 7, 2002.

¹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁸ Ibid.

¹⁹ Small Business Administration, "Notice of Pre-Disaster Mitigation Loans (Pilot Program)," 68 Federal Register 33563, June 4, 2003.



Figure 2. Project Impact Communities

Source: Based on CRS interpretation of data provided by the Federal Emergency Management Agency.

Further limiting participation, businesses that were in Project Impact communities but not in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) were not eligible for an SBA PDM loan if it was for flood prevention measures.

Finally, though the SBA PDM loan pilot program continued until FY2006, Project Impact was replaced by the Pre-Disaster Mitigation (PDM) program in FY2002. According to then-FEMA Director Joe M. Allbaugh:

I want to take the "concept" of Project Impact and fold it in to the program of mitigation. Project Impact is not mitigation. It is an initiative to get "consumer buy-in." In many communities it became the catch-phrase to get local leaders together to look at ways to do mitigation.²⁰

The PDM program does not designate participating communities. Rather, state and local governments submit mitigation planning and project applications to FEMA. Once FEMA reviews the application for eligibility and completeness, FEMA makes funding decisions "based on the agency's priorities for the most effective use of grant funds and the availability of funds posted in the Notice of Funds Opportunity announcement."²¹

²⁰ U.S. Congress, House Committee on Appropriations, Subcommittee on VA, HUD, and Independent Agencies, *Departments of Veterans Affairs and Housing and Urban Development, and Independent Agencies Appropriations for 2002, Part 4*, 107th Cong., 1st sess., May 15, 2001, p. 5.

²¹ Federal Emergency Management Agency, *Pre-Disaster Mitigation Grant Program*, https://www.fema.gov/pre-disaster-mitigation-grant-program.

Eligibility requirements for the SBA PDM loan pilot program were not changed to reflect the new FEMA PDM program. It is unclear what effect this may have had on the SBA PDM loan pilot program.

Outreach and Notifications

As mentioned previously, SBA published notices in the *Federal Register* announcing the availability of pre-disaster mitigation loans. The notice designated a 30-day application filing period with a specific opening date and filing deadline, as well as the locations for obtaining and filling applications. In addition to the *Federal Register* notification, SBA coordinated with FEMA to issue press releases to inform potential applicants of the loan program. It is unclear, however, how effective these efforts were at letting businesses know PDM loans were available.

Considerations for Congress and Policy Options

Reauthorizing the SBA PDM Pilot Program

The following considerations may help increase business participation should Congress decide to reauthorize the SBA PDM pilot program.

First, implementation delays and eligibility restrictions, such as the ones described above, may not be an issue if Congress reauthorized the SBA PDM pilot program, because the pilot would no longer need to be tied to Project Impact. If Congress should desire that the program align with or support FEMA mitigation efforts, Congress may consider tying a reauthorized SBA PDM loan program to FEMA's Pre-Disaster Mitigation program, or, instead, making them available to all small U.S. domestic businesses.²²

Second, if the SBA PDM pilot program were to be reauthorized, one option available to address outreach would be to require SBA to spend a portion of the PDM loan appropriation money on outreach, including advertising to educate businesses on the importance of mitigation to protect their investment from being damaged or destroyed by a disaster, and to help businesses become aware that PDM loans are available. Additionally, SBA could be required to provide information to Congress concerning its efforts to make businesses aware of the program, including where they could apply for a PDM loan.

Further, as mentioned previously, Section 1(c) of P.L. 106-24 required the SBA Administrator to submit a report to Congress on the effectiveness of the pilot program. The report required information and analysis on:

- the areas served under the pilot program;
- the number and dollar value of loans made under the pilot program;
- the estimated savings to the federal government resulting from the pilot program; and
- other relevant information as the Administrator determines to be appropriate for evaluating the pilot program.

²² P.L. 106-390, the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000, provided statutory authorization for Project Impact's successor program, the Pre-Disaster Mitigation program. The PDM program can be located in Section 203 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act. In FY2020, the PDM program will be using a new program name: Building Resilient Communities and Infrastructure (BRIC).

If Congress reauthorized the SBA PDM pilot program, it could consider requiring SBA to provide similar information. Additionally, Congress could tie the report to appropriations to communicate legislative intent to carry out the reporting measure once it becomes law. Although report language itself is not law and thus not binding in the same manner as language in statute, agencies usually seek to comply with the directives contained therein.²³ According to one congressional scholar, "the criticisms and suggestions carried in the reports accompanying each bill are expected to influence the subsequent behavior of the agency. Committee reports are not the law, but it is expected that they be regarded almost as seriously."²⁴

Restructuring Existing Business Physical Disaster Loans

As mentioned previously, the limits on post-disaster mitigation loans are the lesser of either the measure or 20% of the verified loss. If Congress wanted to encourage mitigation, one option would be to consider increasing this percentage to a higher amount in addition to, or instead of, reauthorizing the SBA PDM loan program. Congress could also consider doing the same for home physical disaster loans.

Assistance with Continuity and Disaster Response Plans

Research indicates that many businesses do not have contingency or disaster recovery plans. For example, a survey of Certified Public Accounting (CPA) firms located on Staten Island, NY, indicated that 7% of the respondents had a formal continuity or disaster recovery plan in place prior to Hurricane Sandy. The survey found that nearly 42% of those firms that had a formal continuity or disaster recovery plan admitted that they never tested their plan. Approximately 40% had an informal plan that had been discussed but not documented. More than half of the responding firms did not have a contingency or disaster recovery plan. Of those that did not have any type of a plan, 60% thought the plans were unnecessary and 20% said that establishing a plan was too time-consuming.²⁵

Congress could investigate methods that would incentivize businesses to develop contingency and disaster recovery plans. This could be done through new programs or through existing ones, such as FEMA's Ready Business Program or through SBA's emergency preparedness efforts. The Ready Business Program is designed to help businesses plan and prepare for disasters by providing businesses various online toolkits that can help them identify their risks and develop a plan to address those risks.²⁶ The SBA provides a range of resources to help businesses develop plans to protect employees, reduce the financial impact of a disaster, and reopen the business more quickly.²⁷

²³ For more information on appropriations report language see CRS Report R44124, *Appropriations Report Language:* Overview of Development, Components, and Issues for Congress, by Jessica Tollestrup.

²⁴ Richard Fenno, *The Power of the Purse: Appropriations Politics in Congress* (Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 1966), p. 18.

²⁵ Cynthia A. Scarinci, "Contingency Planning and Disaster Recovery After Hurricane Sandy: Surveys of Staten Island Accounting Firms and Small Businesses," *The CPA Journal*, June 2014, p. 60.

²⁶ See Department of Homeland Security, "Preparedness Planning for Your Business," last visited November 8, 2019, https://www.ready.gov/business.

²⁷ Small Business Administration, "Emergency Preparedness," last visited November 8, 2019, https://www.sba.gov/ node/4633.

Pre-Disaster Mitigation Loans for Homeowners

In addition to disaster loans for businesses, SBA also provides disaster loans to homeowners. In fact, roughly 80% of SBA disaster assistance goes to individuals and households rather than businesses. Homeowners located in a declared disaster area (and in contiguous counties) may apply to SBA for loans up to \$200,000 to help repair and rebuild their primary residence. Similar to businesses, only damaged homes in declared disaster areas are eligible for disaster loans. According to regulations 20% "of the verified loss (not including refinancing or malfeasance), before deduction of compensation from other sources, up to a maximum of \$200,000 for post-disaster mitigation."²⁸ Homeowners seeking mitigation assistance before a disaster strikes, however, must look to other sources for the assistance.

In addition to mitigation measures, such as retrofitting structures, contouring land, and relocating utilities, Section 4 of the Recovery Improvements for Small Entities After Disaster Act of 2015 (RISE Act, P.L. 115-88) allows homeowners to use a portion of their physical damage disaster loans for the construction of safe rooms or similar storm shelters designed to protect property and occupants from tornadoes or other natural disasters. Some homeowners may wish to build a safe room or storm shelter before a disaster. If that is the case, they may be interested in a pre-disaster mitigation loan to fund its construction. Homeowners may also be interested in other pre-disaster mitigation measures. The SBA PDM pilot program, however, only provided pre-disaster loans to businesses. If reauthorized, Congress could consider expanding the program by making pre-disaster loans available to homeowners. In addition to making the program available to homeowners insurance. This could help protect the home from future disasters and have the additional benefit of making sure that the homeowner has adequate insurance to repair and rebuild their home without additional federal assistance.

Concluding Observations

For nearly a century, Congress has contemplated how to help businesses repair and rebuild after a disaster and protect their investments from future incidents. Though businesses can use a portion of their SBA disaster loans for mitigation measures, critics might question why only damaged businesses are eligible for disaster loans. The SBA's PDM pilot program addressed this criticism, but the program had few participants. As described in this report, the lack of participation could have been a result of its alignment with FEMA programs related to delays in the implementation of FEMA's Project Impact, eligibility limitations, and the number of businesses that were aware that the program was available. If Congress were to reauthorize the SBA PDM pilot program, among the policy options available are decoupling the PDM loan program from FEMA programs and requiring enhanced advertising and outreach efforts. Another option would be to restructure business physical disaster loans so that a greater portion of the loan can be used for mitigation. Finally, Congress could examine methods that would help businesses develop business continuity and disaster response plans.

Businesses may be more receptive to pre-disaster mitigation loans as a result of the large-scale disasters that have occurred since 2005. Prior to Hurricane Katrina, the salience of disaster issues generally, and mitigation specifically, may have been on the periphery of business concerns. While there were some large-scale disasters, the scope of those disasters tended to be regional rather than national. Furthermore, the focus of emergency management during that time was arguably more oriented toward terrorism concerns resulting from the 9/11 attacks. Consequently,

^{28 13} C.F.R. §123.105(4).

the need to mitigate against future disasters may have been just one concern coequal with other, competing concerns. The policy environment may have changed as a result of hurricanes Katrina, Harvey, Irma, Maria, and Michael. These disasters, in addition to increasing concerns about the impact of climate change on the frequency and severity of disasters, may make businesses more amenable to the idea of pre-disaster mitigation loans to protect their investment from future disasters.

Appendix. Project Impact and SBA PDM Pilot Loan Program Information

Project Impact

P.L. 104-204²⁹ established a mitigation program (which FEMA named Project Impact) to help communities make mitigation investments prior to disasters to reduce their vulnerability to future disasters. The program was based on a "whole of community" approach involving all sectors of the nation. According to the House report on the bill:

The conferees agree that up to \$5,000,000 of the amount provided for pre-disaster mitigation is available immediately to fund up to seven pilot projects approved by the Director of FEMA. Prior to the expenditure of the remaining funds for any specific predisaster mitigation program or project, the conferees direct that the appropriate level of funding be used by the Agency to conduct a formal needs-based analysis and cost/benefit study of all of the various mitigation alternatives. The results of these analyses and studies, along with any relevant information learned from the aforementioned seven pilot projects, shall be incorporated into a comprehensive, long-term National Pre-disaster Mitigation Plan. The plan should be developed, independently peer-reviewed, and submitted to the Committees on Appropriations not later than March 31, 1998. FEMA is directed to involve in this planning effort participants which shall include, but are not limited to, representatives of FEMA and other federal agencies, state and local governments, industry, universities, professional societies, the National Academy of Sciences, The Partnership for Natural Disaster Reduction, and [Centers for Protection Against Natural Disasters] CPAND. The conferees intend that none of the remaining funds provided herein be obligated until the plan has been completed and submitted as outlined above. The conferees note that this approach is intended to be the foundation for providing the best and most cost-effective solution to reduce the tremendous human and financial costs associated with natural disasters.³⁰

Project Impact was designed to serve as a model for promoting mainstream emergency management and mitigation practices into every community in America. The program asked communities to identify risks and establish plans to reduce those risks. It also asked communities to establish partnerships with community stakeholders, including the business sector.³¹

Primary Tenets of Project Impact

- mitigation is a local issue that is best addressed through local partnerships involving the government, business, and citizens;
- the participation of the private sector is essential because disasters threaten the economic and commercial growth of communities; and

²⁹ P.L. 104-204, Departments of Veterans Affairs and Housing and Urban Development, and Independent Agencies Appropriations Act, 1997.

³⁰ U.S. Congress, House Committee of Conference, Making Appropriations for the Departments of Veterans Affairs and Housing and Urban Development, and for Sundry Independent Agencies. Commissions, Corporations, and Offices for the Fiscal Year Ending September 30, 1998, and for Other Purposes, 105th Cong., 1st sess., October 6, 1997, H.Rept. 105-297, pp. 127-128.

³¹ George D. Haddow and Jane A. Bullock, *Introduction to Emergency Management* (Boston, MA: Elsevier, 2006), p. 12.

• mitigation consists of long-term efforts and requires long-investments.³²

Methodology

• members of the community, including elected officials, local, state, and federal disaster personnel, business representatives, environmental groups, and citizens, joined together to form a Disaster Resistant Community Planning Committee that (1) examined risks hazards and identified vulnerabilities to them; (2) prioritized risk reduction actions based on the hazard identification and vulnerability assessment; and (3) communicated its findings and mitigation plan to other community leaders and residents.³³

Project Impact Grants

Project Impact grants were largely used to fund planning and outreach activities. The Project Impact grants could be used to fund costs associated with

- logistics and meetings, staff support, and travel to meetings with the community or to FEMA Project Impact meetings;
- training including costs to train state officials supporting Project Impact and to develop training packages for state and local officials;
- travel of local community officials to other communities, state meetings, or national conferences at state request to share Project Impact information;
- state costs in information development and dissemination to support Project Impact; and
- expert, short-term technical assistance support to Project Impact communities.³⁴

According to a Government Accountability Office (GAO) report, state and local officials said that Project Impact has been successful in increasing awareness of and community support for mitigation efforts due to its funding of these types of activities.³⁵ The same GAO report stated

During fiscal years 1997 through 2001, Project Impact provided a total of \$77 million to communities within every state and certain U.S. territories. Unlike the HMGP, the amount of Project Impact funding available to communities within a state was not predicated upon the occurrence of a disaster; in fact, the program was structured so that under its funding formula, communities in every state participated in the program. By 2001, there were nearly 250 communities participating in the program, with Project Impact communities receiving grants between \$60,000 and \$1,000,000. Appendix III lists Project Impact grants by year and community. While states selected which communities received Project Impact grants to the HMGP, however, communities were required to provide 25 percent of the costs for the mitigation measures.³⁶

 ³² "Project Impact: Building a Disaster Resistant Community," *Disaster Recovery Journal*, Winter 1998.
³³ Ibid.

³⁴ Federal Emergency Management Agency, "Project Impact: Building Disaster Resistant Communities," 63 *Federal Register* 60344, November 9, 1998.

 ³⁵ U.S. Government Accountability Office, *Hazard Mitigation: Proposed Changes to FEMA's Multihazard Mitigation Programs Present Challenges*, GAO-02-1035, September 30, 2002, p. 2, https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-02-1035.
³⁶ Ibid., p. 12.

The George W. Bush Administration eliminated Project Impact from the FY2002 budget and FEMA rebranded Project Impact as the Pre-Disaster Mitigation (PDM) program. The PDM program retained some of Project Impact's themes, but placed the responsibility on the governor of each state to suggest up to five communities to be considered for pre-disaster mitigation assistance.³⁷ While the governor nominated potential grantees, FEMA made the final selections. In addition, under the statute, FEMA had the discretion under "extraordinary circumstances" to award a grant to a local government that had not been recommended by a governor.³⁸

SBA PDM Pilot Loan Program

Loan Application

SBA published notices in the *Federal Register* announcing the availability of pre-disaster mitigation loans in 2003.³⁹ The notice designated a 30-day application filing period with specific opening dates and filing deadlines, as well as the locations for obtaining and filing applications. In additional to the *Federal Register* notification, SBA coordinated with FEMA to issue press releases to inform potential applicants of the loan program.

Businesses were required to submit a Pre-Disaster Mitigation Small Business Loan Application to SBA during the filing period. Applications had to include a written statement from the state or local coordinator confirming that the mitigation project was (1) located in a Project Impact community, and (2) in accordance with the specific priorities and goals of the community participating in the pre-disaster mitigation community.⁴⁰ The completed application served as the loan request. Loans were provided on a first-come, first-served basis until SBA allocated all program funds.

If SBA declined a loan request, SBA notified the business in writing with the rationale for the denial. SBA also advised the business of the procedures to request reconsideration of the decision.

Loan Terms

The SBA PDM pilot program provided businesses up to \$50,000 per fiscal year to finance mitigation measures to protect commercial property, leasehold improvements, or contents from disaster-related damages that could occur in the future. Mitigation loans could also be used to relocate the business.⁴¹ Interest rates for the loans had a statutory ceiling set at 4% per annum.⁴²

Loan Eligibility

Businesses applying for SBA PDM loans had to meet certain criteria to be eligible for mitigation loans. Two, in particular, were designed to tie the SBA PDM pilot program to FEMA programs. First, as already noted, the business had to be located in a participating Project Impact

^{37 42} U.S.C. §5133(d).

³⁸ 42 U.S.C. §5133(d)(2)(B).

³⁹ For example, see Small Business Administration, "Notice of Pre-Disaster Mitigation Loans (Pilot Program)," 68 *Federal Register* 33563, June 4, 2003.

^{40 13} C.F.R. §123.405.

⁴¹ SBA considered measures costing more than \$50,000 if the business could identify sources that would help fund the additional costs. See 13 C.F.R. §123.405.

⁴² 13 C.F.R. §123.406. The *Federal Register* notice listed the initial interest rate as 2.953%. See Small Business Administration, "Notice of Pre-Disaster Mitigation Loans (Pilot Program)," 68 *Federal Register* 33563, June 4, 2003.

community; and, second, if the mitigation measures were designed specifically to protect against flooding, the business had to be located in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA).⁴³

Additional criteria for loan eligibility required that

- the business and its affiliates lack the financial resources to fund the mitigation measures without undue hardship;⁴⁴
- the business be a small business as defined by SBA regulations;⁴⁵
- the business be in operation in the same location for at least one year;⁴⁶ and
- the mitigation loan had to be used for the protection of a building leased primarily for commercial rather than residential purposes, if the business leased out real property.⁴⁷

Businesses were not eligible for the SBA PDM Loan Program if the business:

- was primarily engaged in political or lobbying activities;⁴⁸
- derived more than one-third of its revenues from legal gambling activities;⁴⁹ or
- owners were incarcerated, on parole, or on probation.⁵⁰

Author Contact Information

Bruce R. Lindsay Analyst in American National Government [redacted]@crs.loc.gov7-....

⁴³ 13 C.F.R. §123.403(b). FEMA defines a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) as an area having special flood, mudflow or flood-related erosion hazards and shown on a Flood Hazard Boundary Map or a Flood Insurance Rate Map. FEMA defines an SFHA as an area with a 1% or greater risk of flooding every year. By law and regulation, federal agencies, federally regulated lending institutions, and government-sponsored enterprises must require these property owners to purchase flood insurance as a condition of any mortgage that these entities make, guarantee, or purchase. For more information on federal assistance for floods, see CRS Report R44808, *Federal Disaster Assistance: The National Flood Insurance Program and Other Federal Disaster Assistance Programs Available to Individuals and Households After a Flood*, by Diane P. Horn.

^{44 13} C.F.R. §123.403(e).

⁴⁵ 13 C.F.R. §123.403(c). Size standards can be located in 13 C.F.R. §121.101. Size standards vary according to a variety of factors, including industry type, average firm size, and start-up costs and entry barriers. For further analysis, see CRS Report R40860, *Small Business Size Standards: A Historical Analysis of Contemporary Issues*, by Robert Jay Dilger.

^{46 13} C.F.R. §123.403(d).

^{47 13} C.F.R. §123.403(f).

⁴⁸ 13 C.F.R. §123.404(n).

⁴⁹ 13 C.F.R. §123.404(k).

⁵⁰ 13 C.F.R. §123.404(a).

Acknowledgments

Robert Dilger, Senior Specialist, Government and Finance Division, assisted with editorial comments and suggestions; Maura Mullins, Research Librarian, Government and Finance Division, helped compile the data for this report; Amber Wilhelm and Brion Long, Graphics Specialists, Publishing and Editorial Resources Section, and Calvin DeSouza, Geospatial Information Systems Analyst, assisted with figures for this report.

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.